

Lecture 1

What is Grammar?
 Grammar is defined as the rules that say how words are combined, arranged and changed to show different meanings. 
teacher, student, question, asked
e.g. 1. The teacher asked the student a question.
e.g. 2. The student asked the teacher a question.

 The largest unit of grammar is the sentence.

Sentences


Sentences
A Sentence is a group of words that expresses a statement, question, command or exclamation. A sentence consists of one or more clauses, and usually has at least one subject and verb.
Types of Sentences:
1. Statement
 A sentence which gives information. (Declarative)
e.g. He is studying. 

We can make statements either affirmative or negative.
e.g. 1. I have found a mistake already. (affirmative)

e.g. 2. I have not found any mistakes yet. (negative)


2. Question
A sentence which asks for information or makes a request. (Interrogative)
e.g. Is he studying? Can I go study?
3. Command
A sentence which gives an order or makes a suggestion. (Imperative)
e.g.  Go study. Be careful!

4. Exclamation
A sentence which is used to express the speaker’s feeling or attitude.
e.g: 
What a lovely day!
Excellent!

Exercise

Identify the type of each of the following sentences.
a. statement b. question  c. command d. exclamation
1. How often do you come here?
2. How interesting this article is!
3. Hurry up before the train’s departure!
4. How interesting is this article?
5. This article is very interesting.

Sentences

Simple, Compound and Complex Sentences:
1. Simple: The man is here.
2. Compund: The man is here, and he wants to see you.
3. Complex: The man that wants to see you is here.

We will discuss compound and complex sentences in detail in the coming lectures.

Verbs


The verb is the central unit (nucleus) of an English sentence. 
Verbs can refer to actions, e.g. run, walk and talk, or states, e.g. want, have and be.


Main vs. Helping Verbs:

Each English sentence has a main verb.
e.g. Mohammed walked home.
e.g. Khaled is happy.
Some sentences also require one or more helping verbs (auxiliary verbs).
He is coming to the meeting.
He could come here soon.


Helping verbs (auxiliaries) include:

1. be (is, am, are, was, were)
2. have, has, had
3. do, does, did
4. Modal auxiliaries: can, could, shall, should, will, would, may, might.. etc.
These verbs (with the exception of modals) can also function as main verbs. e.g. He is here.



Exercise

Identify whether the underlined verb is the main verb or the helping verb of each sentence below.
a. main verb	b. helping verb
1. Students like fast food.
2. He has enough money for the trip.
3. Khaled does not want to go to school today.
4. He is helping me wash the dishes.
5. He will arrive shortly.

Transitivity:

Verbs are divided into two groups based on transitivity:

1. Intransitive verbs are verbs that require no objects.
e.g. Birds fly. The man spoke.

2. Transitive Verbs are verbs that require objects. This group can be further divided into:


A. Monotransitive verbs are verbs that require only one object:
e.g. Khaled broke the window.

B. Ditransitive verbs are verbs that require two objects.
e.g. Saleh gave Majid a pen.

Exercise

Decide whether the underlined verbs are:

a. intransitive b. monotransitive c. ditransitive
1. The student needs a pen.
2. Ali told his friend a joke.
3. Students study.
4. Students study books.
Note: Some verbs can be either intransitive or transitive.


Direct vs. Indirect Objects:

As we saw in the previous section, ditransitive verbs take two objects. One of these objects is called a directs object and the other one is called an indirect object.

The indirect object comes first followed by the direct object in this example:
 e.g. He gave me a book.

The indirect object is typically personal as in “me” in the previous example, and “the man” in the following example:

He asked the man a question.
The indirect object is often equivalent to a prepositional phrase with “to” or “for”.
e.g. He gave a book to me.
	    He bought a gift for his son.
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What is a phrase?
A phrase is defined as two or more words that function together as a group.
e.g. The old man walked down the street.

There are a number of phrase types in English including: noun phrases, verb phrases, adjective phrases, adverbial phrases and prepositional phrases.
Each phrase has a head and one or more modifiers.


The Noun Phrase

The Noun Phrase (NP)


A noun phrase (often abbreviated to NP) is a convenient term for any of the following:

1. A Noun
 e.g. Ahmed, students
2. A Nominal Group
e.g. a blue pen, the students
Each nominal group has a head and one or more modifiers.


The Noun Phrase (NP)


Modifiers add to, change or limit the meaning of the head in a phrase. The head is the word that determines the type of the phrase. 

For example, the word “pen” is a noun that can refer to any kind of pens. When we modify it as in the previous example “a blue pen”, we limit the noun so that it can only refer to a specific kind of pens. 
Some other examples: Ahmed’s desk, a book store,   	the student

3. A Pronoun

A pronoun is a type of “pro-forms” which are defined as forms used instead of other forms. Instead of using the nominal group “the old man” we can use the pronoun “he”. Pronouns include:

a. Personal Pronouns:
Subject Pronouns: I, you, he, she, it, we, they
Object Pronouns: me, you, her, him, it, us, them
Possessive Pronouns: mine, yours, hers, his, its, ours, theirs


b. Reflexive Pronouns: myself, yourself, himself, itself
c. Indefinite Pronouns: everyone, someone, something

4. A Pronominal Group
e.g. we all, everyone in our class
In a pronominal group, a pronoun is the head. The pronouns “we” and “everyone” in the previous examples are the heads of the pronominal groups.

Exercise

Identify the type of the underlined NP.
a. noun b. nominal group c. pronoun d. pronominal group
1. The children went to bed late.
2. I made this cake myself.
3. Ahmed owns an expensive car.
4. Khaled bought a book.
5. The book is his.
6. Someone in our office forgot to lock the door.

Nouns

Nouns can be divided to:
1. Proper Nouns: e.g. Ahmed, Al-Ahsa
A proper noun is the name of someone or something that is usually imagined to be unique. 
2. Common Nouns: e.g. friend, desk, bird, air
A common noun is a name given either to an example of a class or to the class as a whole.


 “Friend” refers to one example of a class in the following sentence:
 e.g. 1. Ahmed is a good friend.
“Friend” refers to the class as a whole in the following sentence:
e.g. 2. A friend is somebody we like and know well.
“Friend” in example 2 is called a generic noun.


Exercise

Identify whether the underlined noun is:
a. a common noun (example of a class) 
b. a common noun (generic) c. a proper noun 
1. Mohammed gave me a pen.
2. A pen is an instrument used for writing.
3. Khaled’s car is new.
4. Khaled has a new car.
5. Fruit is good for you.

Nouns

Common nouns are usually found in nominal groups to help the speaker say which particular example of a class he has in mind.

e.g. 1. The students were waiting for the teacher.
e.g. 2. The teacher’s desk is new.
Proper nouns will not normally be modified this way. In other words, modification differs between a common noun and a proper noun.


Proper and common nouns (as well as pronouns) can refer to something animate or inanimate.
a. Animate
Animate nouns refer to a person or animal.
e.g. Ahmed, friend, bird
b. Inanimate
Inanimate nouns refer to a place, thing or an idea.
e.g. Al-Ahsa, desk, air, freedom


Count vs. Mass Nouns

Nouns can either be countable (count nouns) or uncountable (mass nouns).
Count nouns such as “friend” and “man” can be preceded by “one” and may have a plural form such as “friends” and “men” which can be preceded by a number higher than one, e.g. “two friends” and “ten men”.


Mass nouns such as “bread” and “milk” cannot be preceded by “one” and do not have a plural form.

Some nouns can be used as both count and mass nouns according to the speaker’s meaning.
e.g. 1. Light travels faster than sound. (mass noun)
e.g. 2. There are two lights by his desk. (count noun)


Collective Nouns

A collective noun is a singular word used to refer to a group.
e.g. family, team, public
A collective noun can be followed by a singular verb (e.g. is) or a plural verb (e.g. are). It may be associated with a singular possessive form (its), or a plural one (their).


e.g. 1. Our team is the best.
		  Out team are the best.
e.g. 2. Ahmed’s family moved to its new home.
		  Ahmed’s family moved to their new home.
Note: It is reasonable to be consistent when using collective nouns as either singular or plural. In American English, they are frequently singular, while  they are more frequently plural in British English. 


Exercise

Decide whether the following NPs can be followed by:
a. a singular verb b. a plural verb c. both are possible
1. Ahmed’s young brother 
2. his family
3. juice
4. the company
5. men
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Modifiers



Modifiers

In our previous overview of phrases, we mentioned that each phrase has a head and one or more modifiers. Modifiers can be divided into two groups:
· 1- Pre-modifiers are modifiers that come before the head.
2. Post-modifiers are modifiers that come after the head.
	Take a look at the following noun phrases (NPs).

	Pre-modifiers 
	Head 
	Post-modifiers 

	a good 
	friend 
	

	my school 
	friends 
	

	the 
	headmaster 
	of the school 

	the headmaster’s 
	desk 
	

	several 
	students 
	

	
	we 
	all 

	
	everyone 
	in our class 






When the head is a noun, modifiers usually precede it. Phrases like “of the school” follow it. When the head is a pronoun, modifiers normally follow it.

Pre-modifiers in the previous examples include the following main classes of words:
1. Adjectives (e.g. good)
2. Nouns which modify other nouns (e.g. school)
3. Determiners (e.g. a, the, my)

Exercise

In the following phrases, decide which of the underlined words is:

a. the head b. a post-modifier c. a pre-modifier	
1. a big store
2. the store manager
3. the leader of the group
4. the group leader
5. someone in my office
Determiners



Determiners are words which specify the range of reference  of a noun by making it definite (the book), indefinite (a book) or by indicating quantity (many books). 

Determiners can be either identifiers or quantifiers.

1. Identifiers tell us either definitely or indefinitely which noun the speaker means. They include:
a. Articles: a/an (indefinite articles), the (definite article)


b. Demonstratives: this, that, these, those
c. Possessive Forms of Personal Pronouns: my, your, his, her, its, our, their
2. Quantifiers tell us either definitely or indefinitely the quantity of the noun. They include:
a. Numerals: one, two, three… (cardinal numerals); first, second, third… (ordinal numerals)
b. Words like: much, many, each, every, a few, little, all, several, plenty… etc.


Exercise

Identify the type of the underlined determiner in the following sentences:

a. article b. demonstrative c. possessive d. quantifier
1. This exercise is easy.
2. Their friend is here.
3. The visitor came early.
4. Many people watch the show every week.
5. These sentences are interesting.


Person, Number and
Gender



Person

Nouns can be personal (humans) or non-personal (animals and inanimate objects).

Note: Personal nouns can only be animate (because they only refer to humans). Non-personal nouns can be either animate (when they refer to animals) or inanimate (when they refer to inanimate objects).


We can also use the term “person” in a different way. Traditionally, personal pronouns differentiate between the person speaking (first person), the person spoken to (second person) and the people or things spoken about (third person).
1st person pronouns: I, we
2nd person pronouns: you
3rd person pronouns: he, she, it, they

Number

Singular (number) or plural (number) affects the form of almost all count nouns, pronouns and demonstratives. Here are some examples:
Count Nouns: student (singular); students (plural)
Mass nouns are considered to be singular.
e.g. water, rice (singular)


Pronouns: I, you, he, she, it (singular);
			we, you, they (plural)
Demonstratives: this, that (singular); 
				these, those (plural)

Whether the subject is 1st person, 2nd person or 3rd person; and whether it is singular or plural can affect the form taken by the verb. 
e.g. 

He walks home everyday. (3rd person singular subject)
I walk home everyday. (1st person singular subject)
They walk home everyday. (3rd person plural subject)

Gender

The 3rd person singular form of personal pronouns can be affected by gender as follows:

1. The masculine pronoun “he” refers to males.
2. The feminine pronoun “she” refers to females.
3. The neuter pronoun “it” refers to inanimate objects, or to a person or animal 
not yet regarded as male or female (e.g. “Who is it?”).


The distinction between male and female may affect our choice of lexical items (words or phrases) that could fill a “slot” in the structure of a clause.

man, headmaster, woman, actress

e.g. 1. He is a good -----. 
Man and headmaster can fill the slot in example 1.

e.g. She is a good -----.
Woman and actress can fill the slot in example 2.


Note 1: The suffix “–ess” is found in a number of words referring to women, but there are other words referring to women that do not have this suffix.
e.g. aunt, niece, nun

Note 2: Most nouns in English can refer to both male and female.
e.g. friend, neighbor, cousin, teacher, nurse


	
	Singular 
	Plural 

	1st Person 
	
	I 
	we 

	2nd Person 
	
	you 
	you 

	3rd Person 
	masculine 
	he 
	they 

	
	feminine 
	she 
	

	
	neuter 
	it 
	




Exercise
Choose the appropriate pronoun:
1. 1st person plural pronoun
a. he 	      b. we  c. they   d. you
2. 3rd person singular masculine pronoun
a. they   b. it     c. you    d. he
3. 2nd person singular pronoun
a. you     b. I       c. we     d. she
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What is a clause? 

 A complete sentence needs at least one finite, independent clause. A simple sentence is composed of only one finite clause, so that the structure of a finite clause is identical with that of a simple sentence. Here are some examples of one-clause sentences:
1. I have just telephoned Mohammed.
2. He was my best friend.
3. This is his photograph.


4. At nine o’clock, we all gathered in the classroom.

5. He always does his work perfectly.

Each of these one-clause sentences has a subject and a predicate. The predicate is what is said about the subject.  

If either of those two parts, subject or predicate, were missing, the sentence would not be complete. 
 

However, in an imperative, the subject is usually unstated.
e.g. Go study.
When the subject is missing, we assume that it is “you”, the person or persons spoken to. The previous sentence can be expanded as follows:
You go study. 


The subject of a clause is a noun phrase. The predicate is a verb phrase. 
Every finite clause has the following basic structure:

NP (subject)+ VP (predicate)
The man bought a new car.


The Verb Phrase



Verb Phrase (VP)

The verb phrase (VP) consists sometimes of a finite verb only.
e.g. We all waited.

More often, the VP consists of a group of words (verbal group) with a finite verb as its head. 
For a clause to be finite, there must be a finite verb in it. 

Verb Phrase (VP)

The verb can be either:
1. Simple
A simple verb consists of one word.
e.g. is, was, walked, sat, did
2. Complex
A complex verb consists of a verbal group.
e.g. have telephoned, were placed, were waiting, did not like, could see


Finite vs. Non-finite
Verbs



Finite Verbs

Finite verbs show tense, person and number. 

The verb “be” in the following sentences is an example of a finite verb.

He is here. They are here. (person and number)

He is here today. He was here yesterday. (tense)

Finite Verbs

Finite verbs can have three forms:

1. The base form (simple form) of the verb
e.g. walk, talk, drink, speak

2. 3rd person singular form of the verb
e.g. walks, talks, drinks, speaks

3. The simple past form of the verb
e.g. walked, talked, drank, spoke


Exercise

What is the form of the finite verb in each sentence?

a. base form b. 3rd person singular form  c. past form

1. The manager talked to the employees.
2. He drinks coffee every morning.
3. Ahmed and Khaled usually study together.
4. I went to the mall yesterday.
5. At eight o’clock every morning, my father goes to work.



Non-finite verbs

Non-finite verbs do not show tense, person and number. The verb “come” in the following sentences is an example of a non-finite verb.
e.g.

I expect him to come soon. We expect them to come soon. (person and number)
He is coming now. He was coming at the same time yesterday. (tense)


Non-finite verbs

Non-finite verbs can have three forms:

1. The infinitive

The infinitive has the same form as the base. It is often preceded by an infinitive marker “to”. 
In some cases (e.g. after modal auxiliary verbs) the infinitive is bare (without “to”). For example:
I am waiting for him to come. (Infinitive with “to”)
He can come tomorrow. (Bare Infinitive)

2. Present Participle (also called –ing participle)
e.g. walking, talking, drinking, speaking

3. Past Participle (also called –ed participle)
e.g. walked, talked, drunk, spoken


Exercise

Decide whether the underlined verbs are:
a. finite	b. non-finite 
1. He was able to walk after physical therapy.
2. He is making a chair out of wood.
3. He made a chair yesterday in his workshop.
4. You should spend more time studying.
5. They spend time together every Thursday morning.


Finite vs. Non-finite
Clauses


Finite vs. Non-finite Clauses

A finite clause is a clause which has a finite verb. 

e.g. He is waiting for the headmaster to come.

The previous above example has a finite verbal group, “is waiting”.


Finite vs. Non-finite Clauses

A non-finite clause is a clause which does not have a finite verb.
In the previous example “for the headmaster to come” has a non-finite verb “to come”, but does not have a finite verb.
 
Finite vs. Non-finite Clauses

At least one clause in an English sentence must be finite.
Simple sentences consist of one finite clause.
e.g. He is a student.
Compound and complex sentences consist of two or more clauses with at least one finite clause.
e.g. He is waiting for the headmaster to come.
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